IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN D. FREEMAN,	:
Appellant,	:
VS.	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Appellee.	:
	:



7

CASE NO. 71,756

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN PUBLIC DEFENDER

PAULA S. SAUNDERS FLORIDA BAR # 308846 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT POST OFFICE BOX 671 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

MISCELLANEOUS

Florida Rule of Criminal Procedures 3,600(a)(3), 71

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN D. FREEMAN,	:
Appellant,	:
VS .	:
STATE OF FLORIDA,	:
Appellee.	:
	:

CASE NO. 71,756

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

I PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, JOHN D. FREEMAN, was the defendant in the lower court and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or by his proper name. Appellee, the State of Florida, was the prosecuting authority.

The record on appeal consists of four volumes of pleadings and will be referred to herein **as** "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parenthesis. The transcript of proceedings in the court below is contained in 39 volumes, consecutively numbered, and will be referred to as "T."

-1-

II STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

A. Pretrial Proceedings

John Freeman was indicted on April 23, 1987, by the Grand Jurors of Duval County for first degree murder of Alvin Epps on October 20, 1986. Counts II and III of the indictment charged appellant with burglary of the dwelling of Alvin Epps with an assault and with robbery with a deadly weapon (R 143-145).

The state filed a Notice of Similar Fact Evidence and supporting memorandum, seeking to introduce evidence that on November 11, **1986**, appellant committed a residential burglary and premeditated murder of Leonard Collier (R **18**, **45-52**, **141**). Appellant filed a motion in limine to prohibit the introduction of the collateral crime evidence (R **23-24**; **54-140**). Several witnesses testified at a hearing on the motion, following which the court granted appellant's motion in limine (R **153-157**; T **42-117**, **123-227**).

The state filed a second notice of similar fact evidence relating to appellant's attempted escape from the Duval County Jail on January 14, 1987 (R 212). Appellant responded with a motion in limine to exclude the evidence, arguing, <u>inter alia</u>, that appellant was under indictment for the first degree murder of Leonard Collier and was charged by information with second degree murder in the instant case on January 14, 1987; that the potential penalty at the time of the escape attempt was death in the Collier case and **a** term of years under the guidelines in the present case; that the Collier case was the impetus for the

-2-

escape attempt, and that appellant would have no opportunity to rebut the inference created by evidence of his flight without reference to the Collier murder (R 258-269). Appellant further moved to suppress his statements to sheriff's deputies upon his apprehension following the attempted escape (R 270-272). After a hearing, the trial court denied appellant's motion in limine and granted the motion to suppress statements (R 276, 277; T 370-372, 438-458).

Appellant also moved in limine to prohibit the state from eliciting testimony at trial that John Freeman hated blacks and wanted to "kick some niggers ass." Appellant contended that evidence of his racial attitudes lacked any legal and logical relevance; that there was no indication that the murder of Mr. Epps was racially motivated, and that such testimony was highly prejudicial and inflammatory (R 213-215). Appellant proffered that the statements were made six or seven weeks prior to the Epps' murder following an attack on Freeman by three black men. The trial court denied the motion in limine (R 234; T 267-293).

Appellant was tried by jury before Honorable Bill Parsons on September 29-October 9, 1987. Prior to the testimony, the trial court agreed to admonish the witnesses not to mention the death of Leonard Collier or the circumstances of the Collier case (T958a-958c) and instructed the state's witnesses accordingly (T1000, 1210-1211, 1253, 1423-1424, 1472, 1614, 1780).

A summary of the evidence presented at trial follows.

-3-

B. Trial

Alvin Epps was murdered in his home on October 20, 1986. He had been stabbed six times (T1015, 1085). Time of death was placed between 8:30 a.m. and 12:30 p.m. (T1153). Mr. Epps was last seen alive in his driveway by a neighbor between 8:55 and 9:00 a.m. on October 20, 1986 (T1160-1162). His body was found at 4:30 p.m. in the master bedroom. His left front pants pocket was pulled out (T1003, 1011, 1171, 1173). There was blood on the baseboard in the bedroom and on the bedspread, but no trail of blood (T1015-1016, 1986, 1988-1990).

Entry to the residence was gained through a secluded rear bathroom window; the screen and windowpane had been removed. A rag was lying on a bush outside the window and the bushes were trampled. There were leaves on the bathroom floor, but no footprints were found outside the house (T1009-1010, 1038-1039, 1068-1069). Inside, the house was ransacked. A dresser drawer was found empty on the bed in the master bedroom; doors that were normally kept shut were open; closets were pilfered, and items were strewn on the bedroom and hall floors (T1011-1013, 1172-1174). Several personal items, including a camera, Puegot car radio, fishing reel, clothing, an Indian blanket, jewelry and pennies, were missing from the residence (T1176-1191, 1215-1226, 1245-1248).

The murder weapon was never found, although an empty leather knife case was recovered at the scene. Investigators also recovered six ounces of marijuana, a set of scales and two

-4-

handguns in the victim's bedroom closet, as well as a straw with a trace of cocaine on the floor outside the bedroom (T1037-1038, 1040, 1979, 1990-1991).

On the day before the murder, Neal Kluepfell, a friend of Alvin Epps, had been at the house helping Epps paint the master bedroom. Mike Rizzo was helping Epps move. Craig Brantley also came to the house on the night before the murder and had words Epps was looking for a Mr. HOW bag, which he never with Epps. found. Mr. Brantley returned to the house later that evening. Following the murder, Deangelo Epps advised Detective Moneyhun about Craig Brantley and the Mr. HOW bag. Moneyhun instructed FDLE crime analyst, Steven Leary, to look for the Mr. HOW bag, but it was never located. Leary said Moneyhun thought the bag might contain drugs (T1062-1063, 1196-1202, 1236-1237, 1996). The Epps' residence was the object of another burglary earlier The same bathroom window was removed and gold chains in **1986.** and pennies were stolen (T1203, 1233-1234, 1240).

The medical examiner, Dr. Bonafacio Floro, was qualified as an expert in forensic pathology. He performed the autopsy on Alvin Epps on October 21, 1986. Mr. Epps received six stab wounds, one in the neck, four on the chest and one on the right thigh, and a small cut on the right ring finger. The wound on the neck would have caused immediate paralysis and unconsciousness within seconds or minutes. Dr. Floro opined that this was the last wound inflicted because of the immediate paralysis. One stab wound in the lower back entered the lower lobe of the left lung. A third stab wound in the chest entered the heart.

-5-

The wound on the right side of the chest entered the abdominal cavity and into the liver. Each of these wounds would have been fatal and would have caused death within minutes. A fourth chest wound and the injury to the thigh were superficial. The wounds were consistent with a double edged knife, although two of the wounds could have been inflicted with a single edged blade (T 1080-1104, 1142, 1145-1149).

Several witnesses placed appellant in possession of the victim's property near the time of the murder. Mary Hodges was living with appellant in October, 1986. During that month she saw a gold bracelet and chain, new clothes and Indian blanket. She knew John did not have money and could not afford those clothes. Mary gave the clothes and blanket to John's mother. She and her mother, Nancy Yorton, later turned over the chain and bracelet to Detective Moneyhun. John told Mary that he got the property from Work Release. After his arrest, he said he got the items from Darryl McMillion (T 1616-1621, 1647, 1656).

Appellant's stepbrother, Douglas Freeman, testified that John came to his trailer early on the morning of October 20 and asked Doug to take him to cash a check. Doug saw John a second time around 9:30 a.m. Doug was not certain of the time, but he remembered that Kathy was making breakfast and he was watching TV. Around 10:30 a.m. Doug and John left the trailer in Doug's car. John told his stepbrother that he bought a camera, radio, and fishing reel that morning from a man at work and took Doug to his house to show him the three items. John gave Doug the car radio, which Doug put in his car and later turned over to

-6-

Detective Moneyhun. Doug peeled three initials off the back of the camera with a folding knife he borrowed from John. There was no blood on this knife. Doug put the camera away when he couldn't buy film for it. He claimed he also saw the fishing reel that morning at John's house and said that John gave the reel to his father in repayment for money he borrowed. Doug was positive he saw the items on the day of the Epps' murder (T1255, 1262-1271). Doug later turned over the camera, reel and articles of clothing to Detective Moneyhun. He first saw the clothing at John's house around October 20 (T1282-1284, 1290-1292, 1356, 1359, 1646-1649).

Sometime before the murder Doug gave John a double-edged, five inch buck knife (T1272). Doug never saw it again after he gave it to his brother (T1367-1368).

Doug Freeman testified that he and his wife, Kathy, lived in a trailer a few houses down from John. Kathy's parents, Tom and Betty Mixon, lived next door to John. John was living with Mary (Missy) Hodges at the time of the murder. Doug was paying John's rent (T1257-1260). Doug recalled that Mr. Epps died on a Monday or Tuesday because he was off work on those days and Doug and John were building a porch that day (T1300). Kathy's parents had purchased a new TV a few days before and gave Doug and Kathy their old television and antenna. Doug and John installed the antenna on Doug's trailer the same afternoon. Doug remembered hearing sirens in the neighborhood and later that evening he and John drove by the Epps' residence. They

-7-

got out of the car and talked to some of Doug's friends on the street. John was not acting or saying anything peculiar (T 1273-1280).

Freeman remembered cashing the check for John at Harold's IGA Food Store on Lem Turner Boulevard on the morning of the murder. John came by Doug's trailer at 7:00 or 7:30 a.m. and they went by the American Bank to cash the check. The bank was closed, so they went up the block to Harold's IGA. The check, from Coleman Construction, was issued on October 13, 1986, one week before the murder. After cashing the check, Doug dropped John off at his house. Doug estimated the time to be shortly after 8:00 a.m. Doug saw John again 45 minutes to an hour and a half later. They visited at Doug's trailer and then went to John's house at approximately 9:50 a.m. Doug saw the camera, radio and fishing reel at that time. They put the radio in Doug's car and took the fishing reel to their parents' house, then went to K-Mart to buy film for the camera. After making several trips to purchase lumber and borrow tools, the brothers spent the rest of the day working on the porch (T1335-1354).

Doug was arrested for burglary after he first talked to Detective Moneyhun about this case. The prosecutor met Doug at the jail 30 minutes after his arrest. The charges were later dropped (T 1284-1287).

Doug testified that appellant called him several times while he [appellant] was in jail. The prosecutor asked Doug whether appellant ever mentioned a sum of money, and Doug said no (T 1288). Appellant objected to the line of questioning on

-8-

the grounds that the money related solely to the Collier case. The state attorney agreed that the money related to the other case, but argued:

> He [appellant] also called Mrs. Mary Hodges and offered her \$24,000. And I think that might have been the Collier money, too. But, that certainly goes to offering a witness money.

I just wanted to corroborate what we were talking about, a large sum of money.

(T1289). The court sustained appellant's objection (T1289).

Doug further testified that he talked to the investigator, prosecutor and Public Defender numerous times during the case (T1256-1257). On cross-examination, Doug testified that in their initial meeting, the prosecutor, Mr. Stetson, urged him to confess (T1294-1295). Doug was released from jail a half hour after the prosecutor came to see him. Stetson later told Doug that he "better be glad that he . . . got me out of jail, or something like that, because he didn't want one of his witnesses in jail" (T1295-1297). Freeman admitted telling the prosecutor things which were not true because he thought that was what Stetson wanted to hear. Doug was secretly taping his conversations with people; he was told it was illegal, but he was never charged for doing it (T1298).

Freeman could not recall the date or day of the week that Mr. Epps died. In his deposition he said Epps was killed in November (T1300-1301). Freeman consistently maintained that he cashed a check for John very early that morning. He thought the check was from Coleman Construction; he did not know of any

-9-

other company John worked for in October. Doug endorsed his driver's license number on the back of the check. He identified Defendant's Exhibit No. 1, a check from Coleman Construction issued October 13, 1986. He stated that John came to his trailer at 7:00 or 7:30 a.m. They first stopped at the American Bank about 7:45, but it was closed. They then drove half a mile up the road to Harold's IGA, arriving between 7:50 a.m. and 8:00 a.m., and asked the manager to cash the check. The manager told them they would have to buy something to cash the check. John bought cereal and cookies. He thought the store was open before 9:00 a.m., but said his times could be off if the store did not open until 9:00. He later said he was sure that they were at the store before 9:00. He did not know if the bank was closed because it was Columbus Day (T1301-1302, 1335-1344, 1418-1419).

After cashing the check, Doug took John home and then returned to his trailer. John came back 45 minutes to an hour and a half later. John could have come back to the trailer as early as 9:15. Doug did not see any blood on John's clothes or hands. The brothers visited for 30 to 45 minutes, then stopped at John's house and left again after 10:00 a.m. They bought supplies and ran errands and returned to John's. They finished working on the porch about 4:00 p.m. (T1341-1352). John's mother came by about that time with an empty cooler box to put scraps in. They heard sirens at the Epps' house about the same time. Doug was certain these events occurred on the day of the Epps' murder (T1353-1355, 1419-1420).

-10-

Doug took pictures with the camera that morning. One of the pictures showed Doug sitting on the rail of the front porch at John's house. The left side of the picture was torn. The missing portion would have shown whether or not the front rails had been built (T1356-1358).

Doug did not personally know Alvin Epps. On the night of the murder, Doug spoke to several people in the neighborhood. Defense counsel inquired if the decedent had a reputation for dealing in drugs. The state's objection was sustained. Doug testified on proffer that Alvin Epps had a reputation in the community for being involved with drugs. This testimony was excluded (T 1359-1364).

On redirect examination, Doug said that he gave four sworn statements. In response to appellant's objection that the state was attempting to impeach its own witness, the state insisted that it was rehabilitating the witness after appellant inferred that Freeman was threatened or coerced. In his sworn statement on November 25, **1986**, Doug said he appeared voluntarily and was not under subpoena. The prosecutor asked Freeman whether that refreshed his recollection as to whether he was threatened or coerced in any way by the state, to which the witness replied, "Yes, sir, it was also a story behind that" (T**1372-1378**).

On proffer, Freeman stated that after he turned over the property, he was asked, off the record, to confess. He said he made the statements under **a** lot of pressure and was telling the State Attorney what he wanted to hear (T1378-1379). The state asked Doug whether he was telling the truth when he said his

-11-

brother had the victim's property of the day of the murder, and Doug replied affirmatively. The prosecutor then asked:

Q What was -- you say you were under pressure, what was untrue about what you said?

A Well, when I told you he hated all niggers, you know, he had a dislike for the guys that had jumped him previously, you know. And there's been a few others. I had them marked down in my statements, but I ain't got them with me.

Q What did Detective Moneyhun tell you? Did he tell you he wanted you to tell the truth or not?

A Yeah, he wanted the truth, but that was after y'all tried to get me to confess to being a part in the crime.

THE WITNESS: I wasn't going to sit there and tell you y'all was threatening me. And I believe that would have gave you a good chance to get me with something, if I sat there and telling you: You're threatening me.

(T1379-1381). The court expressed concern that the witness was about to state he perjured himself under oath, and with the consent of counsel, the court took a recess to appoint counsel to advise Doug Freeman of his rights (T1381-1383).

When the proceedings resumed, the state moved to have Doug declared a hostile witness, thereby allowing the state to ask him leading questions. The state argued that since the witness testified that his statements were made under pressure, there was an inference that his entire testimony was false. The prosecutor further claimed that the witness gave inconsistent testimony on cross-examination when he said that John showed up at 9:15 a.m. (T1391-1393, 1396-1397). Appellant objected and refuted the state's contention that Doug made any inconsistent statements. Appellant did not object, however, to the state asking leading questions with regard to any threats or coercion (T1394-1396, 1398). The court declared Doug a hostile witness and allowed the state to lead the witness (T1398).

Upon further redirect examination, Freeman testified that John came back to his trailer sometime between 9:00 and 10:00 a.m. He was not sure of the exact time. His cross-examination testimony that he saw John the second time at 9:15 was a rough estimate and it could have been as late as 9:45 (T1400-1402). Doug reaffirmed his previous statements that appellant was in possession of the victim's property on the day Mr. Epps died. He was not sure whether the check from Coleman Construction was the one he cashed the same day (T1404-1406). Freeman was told in his sworn statements to tell the truth and that if he did not, he could be prosecuted for perjury (T1414-1415).

Freeman's burglary charge was dropped at a hearing the same day he was arrested. The state did not make any offers with regard to that charge in exchange for his trial testimony. Freeman first called Pat McGuinness, appellant's lawyer, when he got to jail. Defense counsel told Freeman he could not help him because he was representing John. The prosecutor came to the jail later to talk to him (T 1407-1409, 1416). Freeman

-13-

turned over tape recordings and the torn picture to the Public Defender and his investigator, even though the state had been asking for the photograph (T 1409-1410).

Kathy Freeman, Doug's wife, testified that John came to the house around 9:45 a.m. on October 20, 1986. She recalled the day because Doug and John were working on the porch, and they moved a television and an antenna from her parents' house to the trailer. Kathy's mother, Betty Mixon, sold her the TV because she purchased a new one on October 18 (T 1425-1428, 1461-1462, 1459-1462, 2113-2117). That afternoon Kathy saw a bracelet in appellant's possession. She saw the camera and radio that night. Appellant told her he got the jewelry and some clothes from Work Release. After his arrest, John told her he bought the items from Darryl McMillion (T 1428-1433).

Ms. Freeman testified on cross-examination that she was threatened by the prosecutor during the investigation. She and Doug were under subpoena and Mr. Stetson said if they gave him false information, Doug and Kathy would go to prison and the State would take her two children. The court reporter and Investigator Moneyhun were also present (T 1433-1436).

John gave his father, Charles Freeman, the fishing reel on the same day that he and Doug were building the porch. John owed his father money. Charles credited John with **\$17** for the reel. Appellant told his father he got the reel from someone at work (T1464-1467).

Robert Jewell, appellant's brother, testified that he had talked to his brother numerous times after appellant's arrest.

-14-

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