#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

•

ग्रहा

**6**831 8 1380

A COURT Ny managana Guestie Charts

JOHN D. FREEMAN,

Appellant,

CASE NO. 71, 756

STATE OF FLORIDA,

vs .

Appellee.

# ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CAROLYN M. SNURKOWSKI ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 158541

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32399-1050 (904) 488-1778

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

Based on the foregoing, appellee would urge this court to affirm Issue I on appeal.

# ISSUE II

# WHETHER THE INTRODUCTION OF IRRELEVANT AND HIGHLY PREJUDICIAL EVIDENCE OF MONEY FROM AN UNRELATED CRIME DEPRIVED APPELLANT OF A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS TO THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION?

Appellant next argues that evidence regarding money not obtained in the instant murder was inadmissibly presented to the jury thus "the inevitable effect of the improperly admitted evidence here was to insinuate in the minds of the jury that appellant was guilty because he stole the money from the Epps residence and offered the money to Mrs. Hodges to not testify against him. The admission of the misleading and prejudicial evidence was harmful error and the state should not be heard to contend otherwise." (AB-55). Appellee would submit that first, and foremost, the admission of said evidence was proper, however, should this court conclude otherwise, any error was harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt.

The record clearly reflects that although a great deal of evidence was presented through the proffered testimony of Robert

Jewell, appellant's brother, (TR 1472-1484), the only evidence testified to by Robert Jewell concerning a large sum of money was that appellant had asked his brother to retrieve a large sum of money which was contained in a bank bag from a location near appellant's residence. (TR 1486-1487). On cross-examination Mr. Jewell testified that his brother never asked him to give the money to anyone and that although his brother told him not to discuss the case over the phone with appellant, appellant at all times denied any knowledge of the Epps murder. (TR 1489-1490). Missy Hodges testified that she had been living with appellant for approximately a year and a half, and in October of 1986, had observed several items stolen during the Epps murder in appellant's possession. (TR 1616-1619, 1620-1621). Ms. Hodges testified that appellant offered her \$24,000.00 if she didn't testify and that she understood that she was suppose to get the money from Robert Jewell, appellant's brother. She indicated that appellant told her to go to California with the money and that he would meet her there. (TR 1622). On cross-examination, Ms. Hodges clarified her statement by stating that appellant told her that if she went to court his lawyer would tear her apart. (TR 1626).

With the exception of the referenced statements above, the jury had no knowledge of where the \$24,000.00 came from, there was no suggestion that any money was taken during the Epps murder, nor was the jury in any way put in a position where it was mislead as to how the money related to the crime charged. The sole purpose for introducing Robert Jewell's testimony and

- 10 -

Missy Hodges' testimony was to show that appellant in speaking with Robert Jewell and Missy Hodges asked Robert Jewell to recover some money and told Missy Hodges that she should not come to court and that she should take the \$24,000.00 and meet him later in California. Said evidence was relevant and admissible to demonstrate appellant's attempts to "bribe a state witness from testifying that she saw appellant in possession of stolen property from the Epp's murder contemporaneous to the time of the murder". The admission of said evidence is not contrary and does not run afoul of Section 90.403, Florida Statutes, nor is the case controlled by Jones v. State, 385 So.2d 1042, (Fla. 1st DCA 1980). In Jones v. State, supra, reversal was mandated because on redirect examination the prosecutor insinuated that a witness had been threatened without connecting said threat to the defendant. That is not the circumstance sub judice. See Coon v. State, 513 So.2d 1253 (Fla. 1987); Manuel v. State, 524 So.2d 734 (Fla. 1st DCA 1988); and Goodman v. State, 418 So.2d 308 (Fla. 1st DCA 1982), wherein the court observed:

> Clevinger and Sanders testified for the state, and in addition to detailing the events of the night of the burglary Clevinger testified that appellant had threatened him while they were in the Clay County jail prior to trial. Clevinger stated that he heard appellant's voice through the vent in his cell, telling him he should think hard on his testimony at the trial because it could cause trouble for his wife and relatives. Appellant contends that this testimony should have been excluded.

. . Thus the statement is patently dictum and the opinion does not indicate the Williams rule applied in that case. In any event, we conclude that the law applying to alleged threats made by the defendant in this case is accurately treated in **Jones** v. **State**, 385 So.2d 1042 (Fla. 1st. **DCA** 1980), in **Jones**, this court stated:

> An attempt by a defendant or third person to induce a witness not to testify or to testify falsely is admissible on the issue of defendant's guilt, provided it is shown that that attempt was made with the actual participation, knowledge, or authorization of the defendant. **Duke v. State**, 106 Fla. 205, 141 S0.886 (1932).

Id. at 1043. Since the threat in this case was attempt by the defendant to induce a witness to testify falsely, and was shown to have been made with actual participation of the defendant, the testimony was properly admitted.

418 So.2d at 309.

A similar result should obtain herein.

Moreover, assuming that this court finds "error" in the admission of testimony concerning the money, appellee would urge that any error is harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt. See <u>Manuel v. State</u>, 524 So.2d at 736. See also <u>Coon v. State</u>, supra, and State v. DiGuillio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1985).

Based on the foregoing, appellee would urge this court to deny relief to appellant on Issue II.

#### ISSUE III

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DECLARING DOUG FREEMAN A HOSTILE WITNESS AND PERMITTING THE'STATE TO IMPEACH ITS WITNESS WITH PRIOR STATEMENTS WHEN THE WITNESS WAS NOT ADVERSE?

Appellant next argues that the trial court erred in declaring Doug Freeman, appellant's brother, a hostile witness because of the inconsistent statements concerning the time when Doug Freeman and appellant went to cash one of appellant's checks the morning of the Epps murder.

The record before this court reflects that Douglas Freeman took the stand and testified, in detail, about his whereabouts on October 20, 1986, and the whereabouts of his brother. (TR 1254-1292). Cross-examination lasted from (TR 1292-1371). Redirect examination by the state commenced at (TR 1372-1378), when, in response to an inquiry as to whether threat or coercion had been used with regard to any of the earlier statements he had given to either the state or the defense, Mr. Freeman stated that there was a "story behind that." (TR 1378). At that point, the jury was removed and proffered testimony presented which reflected that Mr. Freeman was concerned about being charged with "some Mickey Mouse crime or them finding something to charge me for if I didn't, you know, tell them what they wanted to hear". (TR 1379). As a result of further discussion between the Court, the witness and the state, the court recessed the proceeding concluding that at this stage Mr. Freeman might be in jeopardy of a perjury charge and appointed counsel to assist him. (TR 1383). the proceedings recommenced, following preliminary When

discussion, the state requested that Mr. Freeman be declared a hostile witness and that the state be permitted to ask him leading questions. (TR **1391-1392).** The request was bottomed on First, that Mr. Freeman had testified that his two grounds. earlier sworn statements to the state were made under pressure and second, that his testimony was inconsistent with regard to the time spent with his brother the morning of the murder. (TR The state specifically stated that it was only asking 1392). that Mr. Freeman be declared a hostile witness although the state also believed he was adverse. The state argued:

> The hostile witness is a lesser step, your Honor. The first step is a lot more discretionary with the Court to declare one a hostile witness, that is when I can lead him. And that is referring to a witness that has been reluctant or recalcitrant, and the Court has discretion to declare him hostile, and he can be led. The second thing is an adverse witness, and that's when a witness said something that is materially damaging to the party calling that witnesses' case. When that happens, the party can impeach him. At this point, I am only that he be declared a hostile witness so I can lead him. And as things go along, I may be asking you to have him declared adverse.

(TR 1393).

Following further argument, the court concluded:

It appears to me that it goes without saying, I would not have recessed the trial at a quarter till four yesterday and appointed an attorney for Mr. Doug Freeman if there were not at least indications that he may be presenting difficulties for himself in a manner in which he is testifying.

At this time, I am going to find that

he is hostile and allow the State to proceed with leading questions.

(TR 1398).

Redirect recommenced (TR 1400), at which time the state inquired of Mr. Freeman with regard to the time and circumstances the day of the murder he accompanied his brother. (TR 1401-1403). The state then inquired of Mr. Freeman with regard to other aspects of his testimony based on direct and cross examination and Mr. Freeman's testimony ultimately ended with Mr. Freeman's statement that on the day Mr. Epps died, his brother had Mr. Epps' possessions and that is why Mr. Freeman ultimately called the police. (TR 1422).

There can be little doubt that the trial court did not err in declaring Mr. Freeman a hostile witness sub judice. Albeit, there is a dirth of caselaw with regard to what constitutes a hostile witness as opposed to an adverse witness, caselaw indicates that a hostile witness is a reluctant witness who is either being difficult or recalcitrant in responding to inquiry. As such, the trial court has latitude in allowing the parties to ask leading questions of such a witness. <u>Erp v. Carroll</u>, 438 So.2d 31, 36-37 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983); <u>Caldwell v. State</u>, 243 So.2d 422 (Fla. 1st DCA 1971); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 956 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978) and <u>Rowe v. State</u>, 174 So. 820, 824 (Fla. 1937), wherein the Court, citing to <u>Coker, et al.</u>, v. Hayes, 16 Fla. 368, observed:

> A leading question should be permitted only when it appears essential to justice; where a witness is persistently unwilling, or biased, or there exists some like reason, the court should allow it. In some cases

a party may and should be permitted to lead his own witness. This matter, however, is in the discretion of the court. It is not ground of error, and appellate courts universally refuse to review such exercise of discretion.

174 So. at 824.

While an adverse witness might be subject to impeachment, appellee would submit that the only finding **sub judice** was that Mr. Freeman was a hostile witness not based on his inability to recall times accurately but rather because of his insinuations that the State somehow coerced him into testifying a certain way. Clearly, in the instant case, the State had the right to ask leading questions of Mr. Freeman. Moreover, Appellee would argue if any error occurred based on the evidence and nature of the case **sub judice**, said error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Appellant's reliance on the decision in <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 451 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1984), is misplaced in that <u>Jackson, supra.</u>, simply dealt with a lack of memory which was insufficient to render a witness adverse and therefore subject to impeachment. Herein, the trial court did not declare Mr. Freeman an adverse witness but merely exercised its discretion in allowing the State to ask leading questions. See Rowe v. State, supra., and 890.608, Florida Statutes.

#### ISSUE IV

# WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO INTRODUCE DOUG FREEMAN'S PRIOR CONSISTENT STATEMENTS TO BOLSTER THE WITNESSES CREDITABILITY?

The thrust of appellant's fourth issue is that the state's "redirect examination was to reaffirm Doug's prior sworn (AB 63). Citing to three instances during the statement." redirect when appellant objected to the state's inquiry, appellant concludes " . . . although Doug was impeached on crossexamine, appellant maintained that the witness was confused on the dates from the time of his very first statement. Indeed, if Doug's testimony that he was threatened by the detectives were believed, he always had the motive to lie, and there could be no impeachment based on recent fabrication." (AB 66). Appellee The inquiries made on redirect with regard would disagree. whether Doug Freeman had made similar statements on prior occasions, were the proper subject of inquiry because of the impeachment resulting from appellant's cross-examination of Mr. Freeman. Moreover, since the trial court was correct in allowing the state to ask leading question of Mr. Freeman, said inquiry fell well within earlier questions tendered of Mr. Freeman by the defense.

Section 90.801(2)(b), Florida Statutes, provides that "a statement is not heresay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement and the statement is: consistent with his testimony and it offered to rebut an express or implied charge against him of improper influence, motive, or recent fabrications; . . ."

Herein, the record is replete with evidence that on crossexamination, Mr. Freeman may or may not have had a legitimate reason to testify for the state against his brother. Inquiry was made regarding whether Mr. Freeman was a police buff (TR 1370), whether he had a police scanner in his car and home, whether he ever attempted to get assistance from a State Attorney's office to have charges filed against another person (in particular his ex-wife) (TR 1371) and whether he was making secret tapes of people without their knowledge. (TR 1371). Earlier Mr. Freeman had been extensively questioned with regard to the time frame surrounding the cashing of a check with his brother and whether the fact the check cashing incident occurred on the day of the murder. He was also inquired of as to whether on the day of the murder or some period thereafter, he saw appellant in possession of property belonging to Mr. Epps. On redirect, prior to Mr. Freeman evidencing some concerns about whether he was going to be charged with the crime and being declared a hostile witness, the state was able to inquire of him with regard to prior inconsistent statements based on his cross-examination testimony. (TR 1374-1378).

In <u>Van Gallon v. State</u>, **50** So.2d **882** (Fla. **1951)**, the court opined:

We recognize the rule that a witness' testimony may not be collaborated by his own prior consistent and the exception that such as statement may be come relevant if any attempt is made to show a recent fabrication The exception is based on a theory that once the witnesses story is undertaken, by imputation, insinuation, or direct evidence, to be assailed as a recent

- 18 -

fabrication, the admission of an earlier consistent statement rebuts the suggestion of improper motive and the challenge of his integrity.

In <u>Van Gallon</u>, the court reversed because there was insufficient evidence upon which the state relied to demonstrate a basis to invoke the exception. Certainly, this is not the case **sub judice.** See <u>Gardner v. State</u>, 490 So.2d 91, 93 (Fla. 1985). And, unlike <u>Jackson v. State</u>, 498 So.2d 906, 909-910 (Fla. 1986), the prior consistent statements were made before, not after the alleged motive to falsify had arisen. It was Doug Freeman who went to the police to inform them that he had observed his brother in possession of Mr. Epp's property the day of the murder. (TR 1422). Mr. Freeman made several statements to both the state and defense with regard to if, when and who these statements were made. (TR 1372-1381).

Even assuming for the moment that the state somehow violated the prohibition of use of prior constituent statements to "put a cloak of creditability on the witnesses testimony", the testimony forthcoming from Mr. Freeman affirming that he had made such statements on a prior occasion can be nothing more then harmless error. See <u>State v.DiGuillio</u>, <u>supra</u>, and <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, 439 So.2d 840, 842-843 (Fla. 1983), wherein this court observed on a similar issue:

> Even if the trial court's ruling were error, we find that it was harmless. 'A judgment will not be reversed unless the error was prejudicial to the substantial right of the appellant.' **Palmes v. State,** 397 So.2d 648, 653 (Fla.), **cert. denied,** 454 **U.S.** 882, 102 S.Ct. 369, 70 L.Ed.2d 195 (1981).

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